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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Building 100, affectionately known as the "Taj Mahal," is the most
impressive example of the architecturally and historically significant
buildings on Randolph Air Force Base. Construction of the building
began in July 1930 and was completed on 15 July 1931 at a cost of
$252,027.50. The building is constructed using a number of materials
including a main framework of reinforced concrete beams, columns, and
slabs. Walls are made of hollow clay tile finished with stucco on the
exterior and plaster on the interior. The roofing system is composition
on wood trusses, concrete on steel trusses, and clay tile. The main
portion of the building contains two office floors, flanked to the east
and west by one-story wings. A longer projection attached to the rear
of the building houses a 1200-seat theatre, complete with a stage and
orchestra pit. There are three primary entrances to the building and
one primary entrance to the theatre, each located within an arched
portico. The main entrance of the building faces the main entrance to
the base. The wooden double-door entrances are finished with a natural
stain and varnish. The building has been maintained in excellent condition
with no alterations to the exterior of the building and only minor
alterations to the interior.

The building was designed using a Spanish Colonial Revival style
of architecture. This particular style was the popular theme at the
time Building 100 was designed. Prominent architects including Bertram
Goodhue, John Kibbey, and Robert Weed had been using this style of
architecture throughout Florida, California, and Arizona. In keeping
with this particular trend, most of the original buildings constructed
on Randolph were designed using the Spanish Colonial Revival style.
The old Post Exchange building, located to the east of the "Taj," has
similar arches and porticos. The base Chapel, located to the west of
the building, alsc has similar design attributes.

Building 100 is distinguishable from other buildings on Randolph
by its 147 foot tower. The tower is an octagon-shaped structure capped
with a domed roof of blue and yellow glazed tile. The tile are placed
in an alternating pattern that form chevron stripes. Atop the dome is
a small platform, formerly a cupola, housing a beacon 1light, radio
antennas, and weather sensing equipment. Directly below the dome is
an eight-sided room and an outside observation deck. The walls of the
tower consist of precast concrete panels decorated with 22 removable
sections of ornamental grille work. The observation deck is accessible
by an interior elevator and a stairway.

Enclosed within the tower is a 500,000 gallon water tank that
provides a portion of the potable water and fire protection for Randolph.
Access to the tank is provided by the elevator and stairway to the

observation area and the removable grille panels on the exterior of
the tower. The tank is supported by a foundation independent from that

of the building. The main portion of the building forms the base for
the tower.
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Inside is a carefully designed rotunda, which is the main lobby
of the building. The rotunda has a dome-shaped ceiling. Other ceilings,
throughout the first and second floor, are approximately 14 feet in
height and have a wood moulding border approximately one foot lower
on each wall. Numerous artifacts and paintings are displayed in this
area and in the adjoining halls of each wing. The floors are surfaced
with a granite terrazo flooring material and are original. The walls
are finished in white plaster and covered with white paint. There are
two open stairways, one on either side of the rotunda, leading to the
second floor. Stairways leading to separate basements are on each end
of the rotunda. Carpeting has been added to most of the office areas
and flourescent lighting fixtures have replaced most of the original
fixtures. There are four original candlebrum style 1lighting fixtures
still remaining in the main floor rotunda area. Each of these original
fixtures contains five bulbs. Many of the offices have transom doors,
some with the original varnish coatings. Elevator entrances are located
on the first floor at the back of the rotunda and on the second floor.
The main floor of the building houses approximately 22 offices. The
combined basement areas house approximately nine offices. An elaborate
border of sculpted concrete separates the main floor and second floor
levels of the rotunda.

The second floor contains a balcony that encircles the rotunda
area. The balcony is approximately six feet wide and has an arched opening
to the rotunda on each of its four sides. Each opening has an ornate
wrought iron and wood railing. There are approximately 18 offices located
on the second floor. All the offices are carpeted; however, the hall
floors and stairs are of the same granite terrazo material used throughout
the building.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The significance of Building 100, the "Taj Mahal," is based on its
design, architecture, history, and inherent value to Air Force flyers
worldwide. Rising above the Texas landscape, the building is the most
prominent structure on Randolph Air Force Base. It towers 147 feet into
the air and its blue and yellow glazed tile roof can be seen from miles
away. Air Force personnel, past and present, view the building with the
same heartfelt emotion and respect Texans have for the Alamo and the
San Jacinto Monument. Its nickname has been traced as far back as 1931
when the first class of cadets came to Randolph.

The conceptual design of Building 100 was drafted by 1lst Lieutenant
Harold L. Clark on 1 May 1928. Clark, at the time, was a dispatch officer
at Kelly Field in San Antonio. He learned the Air Corps was planning
to build a new consolidated training facility and having trained as an
architect prior to his military service, he viewed the proposed training
center as an architectural challenge. He began to sketch ideas, on the
back of old dispatch sheets, for what he felt would be the perfect flying
field. His idea was to build an "Air City," using a centralized building
area with concentrically arranged streets surrounded by flying fields.
He felt this would avoid problems present at such fields as Kelly Field
where, because of the prevailing winds, all landings had to be made over
the hangers. The commander of the Air Corps Training Center, Brigadier
General Frank P. Lahm, 1liked Clark's design so much he appointed him
Architect-in-Charge of the Randolph project.

Separate appropriations had been made for construction of a water
tower, signal office, photographic wunit, administration building and
a theatre. Clark's idea was to combine all the facilities into one
structure. By combining these facilities into one administration building,
Lieutenant Clark was able to design a larger building using less funds.
Also, he added a powerful rotating beacon to the top of the tower, reducing
the flying hazard presented by tall structures. His first drawing of
the "Taj" included the observation deck but not the water tank. His second
drawing, done the next day, included the tank and placed it behind the
walls of the tower.

_ Lieutenant Clark also drafted designs for other buildings on Randolph,
using a Spanish Renaissance style of architecture for his design theme.
This type of architecture was popular throughout California, Florida,
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a%d South Texas in the 1920s and 1930s. That particular style was also
predominent in the local area. The size and requirements for each building
were established by the Air Corps Training Center commander and -other
Air Corps officials. Construction. of the "Taj" and other buildings on
Randolph was done under the direction of the Construction Quartermaster,
Captain Arthur W. Parker.

Harold Clark retired from active duty in 1946 as a Brigadier General.
Later, in 1951, he donated his original drawings and sketches of Building
100, and other early sketches of Randolph, to the Library of Congress.

J »

The actual construction drawings of Building 100 were done by local
architects Atlee B. Ayres and his son Robert. The Ayres' firm was one
of the a dozen architectural firms that worked on the Randolph Field
project. They altered Clark's original design of the "Taj" to better
fit the Spanish Renaissance influence prevalent: throughout South Texas.
They also redesigned the interior of the building, allowing for additional
offices and more efficient use of space.

The name Atlee B. Ayres is prominent throughout Texas and the United

States. Mr. Ayres is known in San Antonio for having designed several
buildings. Two of the buildings, the Municipal Auditorium and the Hiram
Phrtee Residence, have been placed on the National Registry. Ayres also

designed the McNay Art Institute and the 35 story Transit Tower Office
Building. Numerous other buildings in Texas were designed by Ayers and
placed on the National Registry including; the Cameron County Courthouse
in Brownsville, the Lloyd Johnson Residence in San Marcos, and the Louis
Albert Schreiner Mansion in Kerrville. He and his son received an award
in 1940 from the American Institute of Architects for their design of
the "Taj." Photographs of the building were also part of an exhibit that
toured the East Coast of the United States_and much of Europe that same
year.

In 1934, the first motion picture to address flying training, "West
Point of the Air," was filmed at Randolph. This motion picture featured
a flyby of 250 aircraft over the "Taj." Other movies filmed at Randolph
include "I Wanted Wings," produced in 1941, and "Air Cadet," produced
in 1951. These films portrayed the "Taj" as a rallying point for aviators
rising to the defense of their flag and the principles it represents.

Lieutenant Clark designed Randolph precisely for its flying training
mission, differing greatly from the design of other bases built in the
same era. The overall plan was done so well, few changes have been
necessary over the years. For many years Randolph was known as the "West
Point of the Air." When the Air Force Academy was established Randolph
became the "Show Place of the Air Force."
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Building 100 has served as an administration building since its
official opening on 5 October 1931. The building first served as the
Headquarters Air Corps Training Center. Shortly after the Air Force became
a separate service the "Taj" became the Headquarters building for the
3510th Flying Training Wing. The 3510th was de-activated in May 1972.
At that time the 12th Flying Training Wing established its headquarters
in the Building. The theatre is still used as a base movie theatre and
a location for large meetings. Throughout the years, the building has
remained relatively unaltered and it has been maintained in excellent
condition. There are no other substructures co-located on the grounds
of the building and no signnificant changes to the building are planned.
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design

sketch, Bldg 100, Base Admin. Bldg

dated: 5 Feb 1929
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Construction of Building 100
15 Jan 31






Construction of Building 100
showing developement of water tank

ea .. Spring 1931






Materials used for construction
" showing grille panels

ca. 1931






Building 100
ca. 1934






Photo of "Taj" used as Christmas
card for Headquarters Gulf Coast
Air Corps Training Center

ca. 1940
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Interior of Rotunda area, Bldg 100
photo taken in June 1981



NO SnORING




Theatre stage showing orchestra
P

ca. 1981






Side view of Bldg 100, March 1987
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TAJ MAHAL

Original sketches, plans and drawings for Randolph Field (including

the Taj Mahal) completed by 1lst Lt Harold L. Clark, Kelly AFB.
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e L Orlginal

pencil sketch
of Building 100,

Base Admin Bldg.

dated:

1 May 1928
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DEPARTMENT OF THE AIR FORCE
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20330—1000

July 27, 1987

OFFICE OF THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY

Keeper of the Register
Attn: Mrs Carol Shull
National Park Service
Washington DC 20013-7127

Dear Mrs Shull:

We are pleased to nominate Building 100 at Randolph Air Force
Base, Texas, to the National Register of Historic Places. The
nomination and supporting material are attached. If you need
additional information, please contact the Environmental Division,
Headquarters U.S. Air Force, Bolling Air Force Base Washington DC
20332-5000, attention Dr Ludlow Clark, telephone 767-3626.

Sincerely,

/F& D, Seon—

GARY D. VEST
Deputy for Environment, Safety and
Occupational Health

2 Attachments
1. Nomination
2, Supporting Documents and Photographs
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Decerintion c¢f Items

(Chronologicel)

V1. Oricinsl Studv of Laveut Plen, éated Kovenber 193%.

This study - the re:ult of three monthst! sketching, Avsust to
jovember 1927 - is the origin of Randoloh Field, It was rreparcd be-
fore the site was selected, and prior to receliving a peme,

/' 2. Gecond Study of Leycut Plen, dated Kevember 13, 1927.

This study was o further develeopment, at lerger scale, and enuner-
eted the building requirements zz set up for a training center to con-
tain four units:- one primery training urit, one besic treining unit,
one advanced treininz urit, and a fourth unit to accommodate & repair
depot and schcol of aviation mecicine.

Tris study was eccepted by Brigedier Generzl Frarnl: 7, Lzhm, the
Ascicsient Chief of the Air Corps, es the basis for the design of the
nev Air Corps Training Center, g "

"

3. Study of Unit No, 1, dated Fovexmber 15, 1927,

A detelled study cf a typical trzining unit,

/L. Linen Trecin- cf Layout Slen, deted December 23, 1927,

This plan was submitted by General Lehm to the Chief of the Air
Corps &= the officiel j;len proposed by the Commznding General, Adr Corps
Training Cernter. It &lso chows the adeptotion of the flan tc the selected
site, then knowm only as the Clbolo site (for the creck mear thc ncrth-
ezct corner).

5. Liren Trzcin~ cf Leyout Plzrn, dated December 23, 1927.

The same plen as No., 4, &t & laerger scele,
6. Linen Trecin~ Sketch, dated Jenmuery 17, 1928.
This cketch wus prep:.red tu acccopany the Proceedinss of the Site

Selecticn Boerd end shows e progressive budléing program edzpted to the
revly selected Cibolo Site,

o Linen Trzcing of Laycut rlen, undated, but prepered, presumebly, sbout

T lminemy 72 2 A0

X This was the first revisiocn of the oricinzl laycut, adapted tc the
Cibolo Site, and squaring the bullding area into the prevailing wind,
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Lincr Treeins of Leycui Pien, undated, but prepered, —resumchbly. cbout

March 1, 19z8.

This wes the cecond revisicn of the plen, end wes the basic fer ihe
dezi—n of Randolnh FPicld es finslly adopted. By comparison with Iten
¥o. 33, it can be seen thet only minor chanres were made by the Consult-
ing Architect, Mr, George B, Ford (mow deceased), who &t that time was
considered by the architecturzsl profescion to be the rrexier U. J, asuthority
on city ;lenning,

Linen Trzein~ of & Utilities Dia~ren dated January 16, 192E,

This élagren, based tnmon the criginal layout rlan (Items 1 end 2)
furnicshed the besis for calculetion cf estimates that were subzitted to
Congress, covering the cost of utiiities for the project,

Iinen Tracin~ of a Utilitiez Dierram, deted January 23, 1928.

An anditiona_ dlegram, for the same ;urjose as Item 9, but necessary
for sdditicnsl utdlities nct covered irn the latter,

Linen Trzein- of én Alternate Leycvt Plen, dated February 1, 1928,

This alternate ;lan wes developed, at Goneral Lehm's reguest and
submitled by him to the Chief of the Air Corps, fer comparative rurposes.
It was designed as & circulsr plen for the building area, as opposed to
the rectenzular plan submitte¢ as the erproved design.

Linen Tracinz of levout Plen, dated A-ril 3, 1928

This wos e further develcoment of Item 8, at & lerger scale and in
more detail,

Pencil Sketch of Admiristration Buildins, (Elevetion), dated Msy 1, 1928.

This vas the first attempt et the design of en adniniciration building.

Linen Treciny of Administrstion Budldin-. dzted Mey 2, 1928,

This wes the orizin of the ides of placing the elevnted water tank
vithin the observaotion tower as a part of the acninistrziion tuilding,
This idea was £ "first" in Army eonstruction,

Liren Trecin~ of Flvinz Cadet Borrscks (1st Floor Plen), dated May 31, 1928,

A

Iinen Trecinc cf Flvinc Cadet Farrscks, (2d and 3d Floor ard Baserent Plans),
dzted June 8, 1926,

These tuo re: re:ent the f1r°t de"ign fcr & cadet bnrrack with »he

l_ 34 A '\

tue Lnuixl-ua¢ rooms uauterneu afuer the caaet berracns at hebt Eclub.
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17.

18.

19.

v 22.

23.

V/ES.

Pencil Studv of g Primary Flvins School B.ilciny, dated July 15, 1928.

This represented the original idea of having a ground school build-
ing for each of the three flying training units. It was later changed to
s single academic tuilcing in the cadst quarters area.

Pencil Studv of a FHospitzl (Floor Plzn), dated July 31, 192€.

This was the original study of the hospital. The building was fin-
ally designed by e San /ntonio architect and was censtiructed, substantially
in accordance with this floor plan.

Linen Tracings of an Ac¢ministration Buildingz, Ground School and Theater
(Floor Plans), cdated July 18, 1928.

This ccnstituted the orizinal ides of cormbining three activities
{(fcr which money had been appropristed ceparately), to obtain sufficisnt
funds with which to construct an administration building acequate to the
size and imporiznce of the Air Ccrps Training Center.

Linen Tracins of Bechelor Cfficers' Quartsrs, dated July 25, 1928.

This was the originsl design, leter ravisec (See Items 26-29) and
finslly developed by a Ser Antonio architect.

Pen 2znd InP Sketch, Administration Ruilding, dated February 5, 1929.

This was 2 redesign of the idea in Item 19. It wos later revised
ané developed by a San Antonio architect, but this plan served as the
basic control plan for requirements in floor space, etc. The "Vater
tank within the tower" feature was retained snd the building constructed
to contain an overhead tank of 500,000 gallons cepacity, which furnishes
the water pressure for the entire post.

Pen znd Ink Sketch of Acadsmic PBuilding, cated March 6, 1929.

Chanres, Academic Buildins, undated.

These itexs supplied the basic design. A San Antonio architect
designed the complete builcing, but it ¥as constructed, substantielly
as cdepicted on these flocr plans.

Colored Ink: Sketch of Post Exchsnre Merket Place, dated June 18, 1929.

Chenre Sheet - Post fxchanre, dated June 18, 192G.

This building was unique in decign - three sections srcund a hexa-
gonal patio. F¥hen subritted to General [Cash, the Quartermaster General,
for aprrowal he esked "who ever saw a Po<t Exchange like thpt?" yy
avproval and wes uesigned by a ban Antonlo archltuct and consnructed
substantislly as shown on this sketch.

3
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26. Pencil Tracin-, Pachelor Officers Cusrters (Plot Plsn), datec August 7, 1929.

27. Pencil Tracinc, Bacheler Cfficers Cuarters (Flocr Plan), dated Avgust 7, 1929.

28. Pencil Trecinc, RPachelor Officers Cusrters (Front Elevetion), dated August 7,
1929. :

s
L)

29, Pencil Trscinc, Pochelor Officers Querters (Resr Flevation), dated August 7,
152G.

The design, depicted in these four items, supplied the basic require-
ments for the Szn Antonio erchitect who developed them., 1ne buildings
were constructed, substantielly as designed herein.

v 30. Linen Tracing, Flyin- Cadet Rarracks, dated August 15, 1929.

This desizn includes plot plan for the eres, end floor plans for the
bsrrecks, mess hall and recrestion buildings. The design was developed
by & San Antonio architect znd the btuildings constructed, substantially
as shown in this design, less the recreaztion buildings and covered arcades.
The changes made were necessary to fit the design to eppropriated funds,
but this desizn was the controlling factor.

”" 31, linen Tracin:, Incineering Sheps, cated Kovember 12, 1929.
N

This design was followed almost exactly by the San Antonio architect
who turned it out. It was unique in that the .steel framework was supplied
by the Air Corps fror surplus stock of exwed%@nary steel hangars left over
froem ¥orld Var I.

s

32. Pencil Sketches (2 Sheets), Compenv CGificers' Quarters, Plsn #3, undated.

These studies represented plans for only one type of quarters among?
many, but supplied the control for desizns developed by San Antcnio erchitects.

33. Copy of Laycut, ec Revised by Georze B, Ford, A.I.A,, dated December 27, 1925,

t 24e Phctoctetic Corv cf Cormensction, dated August 4, 1930.

35. Trhoto~rznh of total cf’icer strernzth cf the Alr Corrs Tralning Center, about
1934,

Left to rizht, seated, Major C. L. Beaven, Surgecn (later Chief of
Flight Surgeons, U, Z. Army Adr Ccrps;j Brigedier General Frank i, Lakm,
Cormancing General, Air Corps Troining Center end Assisient Chief of Air
Cornsi Captain Orlo H. Quinn, Emechtive- Stending:; Czptein Byron T. Burt,

Adjutant; Captein Alvin C, Kincaié (ncw Major Gemeral;, Chief cf Training;
lst Lieutenent Harold L. Clark, and lst Lieutenant Robert W, Douglass, Jr.
(:} (now Mzjor Goneral), Aide to General Lahm,




. 36. Pen cnd Ink 13ct of Fstimates,

This is the originsl 1ict of estimetes for the cost of utilities es
Caleulated from the dizrrens (Items 9 and 10), end submitied to Congress
by the Chief of the Alr Corps, Undeted, but approximately Decezber 15, 1927.

V' 37, Cerben Covv of Letter to the Chief cf Adr Corps, from Brifadier Geopersl
F, #, Lahm, dated July 14, 1930.

v 38, Carbon Conv of 2 Press Relemce, iscued by the Headoverters, fdr Corps Trein-
in; Center, dated - in in: - 1/15/30.

This gives the history of Rendolph Field, as of Januery 15, 1930, ancd
bears the initisle of 1lst Lt. R. V. Dougless, Aide to Generzal Laim,
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